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Despite excessive turmoil in financial markets, the Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company 
(MMWEC) completed the past year with verification that its financing systems are strong, stable and expanding to 
meet the organization’s needs. 

A telling 2008 milestone was the retirement of bonds issued by MMWEC to finance its ownership in the Stony 
Brook Intermediate Unit and Wyman Unit No. 4, completing the 30-year cycle of a financing system that has proven 
its value and resiliency through both good and difficult times. MMWEC expects to use this tried and true system of 
financing new resources to construct a new generating unit at its Stony Brook site.

Moving beyond tradition, the MMWEC organization is expanding and streamlining its project development and 
financing capabilities through the innovative use of Municipal Lighting Plant Cooperatives. In addition, recent 
amendments to MMWEC’s enabling legislation allow the organization to finance a broader range of energy 
resources using more flexible investment vehicles, including a pooled loan program for Member utilities.

With state and national energy policies evolving quickly to embrace renewable energy, transmission development, 
carbon trading, smart grid and other major initiatives, MMWEC is well positioned to provide its Members with the 
next generation of financial and energy resources.

A solar energy program created by MMWEC in 2008 is enabling municipal utilities to tap the potential for solar 
energy in their communities. The Berkshire Wind Power Cooperative Corporation, a creation of 14 Member 
utilities and MMWEC, is ready to start construction on a 15-megawatt wind project in Western Massachusetts. 
With major permits in hand, MMWEC also is moving forward with a new 280-megawatt, combined-cycle unit at its 
Stony Brook site, which is planned for completion in 2013.

Strength and Innovation For

 The Next Generation

On the cover: Stony Brook switchyard maintenance; Ashburnham solar project; and MMWEC’s Ronald C. DeCurzio, Evergreen 
Solar’s Richard M. Feldt and Massachusetts Energy and Environmental Affairs Secretary Ian A. Bowles at Evergreen’s manufacturing plant.
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Continuing a trend of credit rating upgrades, in December 2008 Standard & Poor’s raised the ratings 
on three additional MMWEC Power Supply Projects to the “A” level. The upgrades reflect the 
strong financial positions of project participants as well as the sound legal and financial structure of 
MMWEC’s financing system.

Members are seeing greater value in the services they receive through MMWEC, from more advanced and 
comprehensive energy portfolio management to increased outreach activities and more personal customer service. 
Along with other cost-control initiatives, MMWEC completed a voluntary staff reduction program in 2008 and is 
targeting new staff additions to meet specific Member needs.

In a show of its plant management and operations expertise, MMWEC successfully completed one of the longest 
and most complex outages in the history of the Stony Brook plant in the fall of 2008.

These and other achievements of the past year provide solid footing as MMWEC pursues its mission of delivering 
services that enable municipal utilities to compete efficiently and effectively in an evolving energy marketplace. As 
has been the case for many years, legislative, marketplace and environmental uncertainties abound in looking ahead. 
The next generation of financing and energy resources for MMWEC will include a blend of traditional, market-
tested resources and innovative projects that employ new financing and ownership structures. Much has been 
accomplished. More can be done.

MMWEC and its Members are active participants in change, continuing 
nearly 40 years of joint action to achieve common goals. We continue to 
evolve and welcome the challenges ahead as we work toward a sound and 
secure future for public power in Massachusetts.

Stanley W. Herriott, Chairman of the Board

Ronald C. DeCurzio, CEO/CFO/Secretary

H. Bradford White, President

MMWEC is well positioned to  
provide its Members with the  
next generation of financial and  
energy resources.
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Financial Structure: Stable and Expanding

MMWEC’s traditional system of financing energy facilities is strong and 
stable by many measures. It is the backbone of MMWEC’s 720-megawatt 
ownership in five power plants and the source of more than $4.4 billion 
in MMWEC bond issues to finance and refinance an independent power 
supply for Massachusetts municipal utilities.

Debt associated with three of those plants has run its 30-year cycle to 
retirement. The approximate $570 million in debt currently outstanding 
is for MMWEC’s share of two nuclear plants that are expected to be 
producing energy long after MMWEC debt for the plants is retired.

From a legal perspective, the 1980s challenges to the contracts that 
secure MMWEC debt reached the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial 
Court, which upheld the contracts and MMWEC’s system of financing. 
The court-tested validity of these contracts and the strength of project 
finances are two of the reasons cited by credit rating agencies in recent 
upgrades of MMWEC Project debt.

Such success over time does not come by chance. The financial and 
legal framework for MMWEC bond issues was crafted with care in 

the organization’s enabling legislation and General Bond Resolutions. 
Provisions of these documents protect the long-term interests of 
MMWEC, its Project Participants and bondholders alike. The enduring 
strength and stability of this financing system make it ideal for financing 
new resources, such as the planned 280-megawatt addition to MMWEC’s 
Stony Brook power plant facilities.

As the dynamics of energy and financial markets have changed, innovation  
has taken its place alongside tradition in addressing new challenges. A 
case in point is the expansion and streamlining of MMWEC’s project 
development and financing capabilities through the establishment of 
Municipal Lighting Plant Cooperatives.

Massachusetts law allows municipal utilities and public entities such as 
MMWEC to form cooperatives to conduct business associated with the 
purchase, sale and distribution of electricity. MMWEC and its Members 
are finding the cooperative structure to be a useful tool in developing 
various resources, including wind and solar energy projects in a number of 
communities. In addition to some legal and financing benefits, the cooperative 
structure generally streamlines the project development process.
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A cooperative formed in 2008 by 14 Member utilities and MMWEC 
has purchased and is developing the Berkshire Wind Power Project, a 
15-megawatt wind farm in Western Massachusetts. MMWEC also is a 
member of separate cooperatives formed with the municipal utilities in 
West Boylston, Princeton and Westfield to develop a 360-kilowatt solar 
project, a 3-megawatt wind project and a natural gas pipeline, respectively.

Under these cooperative structures, MMWEC serves as the 
cooperatives’ agent in obtaining financing for the projects and performing 
their administrative and accounting functions. In addition, MMWEC 
purchases all of the output from the cooperative and in turn sells that 
output to the cooperative’s members under “take-or-pay” contracts.

MMWEC also is exploring potential uses of expanded financing 
capabilities contained in amendments to its enabling legislation signed 
into law by Massachusetts Governor Deval Patrick in January 2009.

To some extent, these amendments represent the “greening” of 
MMWEC’s statutory framework to incorporate fully the kinds of 
renewable, demand management and other energy resources that are 
integral parts of today’s energy marketplace. Further, the amendments 
enable MMWEC to enter into a broader array of energy transactions, 
including risk management instruments, providing the flexibility required 
for success in developing, financing, hedging and otherwise protecting the 
energy resources of MMWEC and its Member utilities.

The amendments also enable MMWEC to create a “pooled loan 
program” for Member utilities that could moderate their capital financing 
requirements. While the specifics of such a program have yet to be 
defined, it could include financing for substations, utility poles and bucket 
trucks for individual Member utilities.

MMWEC’s traditional 
financing system is 
showing its resiliency in 
these difficult financial 
times. But difficult times 
also require innovation, 
a requirement not lost on MMWEC as it pursues a combination of 
the traditional and innovative to meet the next generation of financing 
requirements for its Member utilities.

MMWEC Bond-Financed Generation Ownership

Unit Name Ownership Fuel Type Debt Retirement 
 Share (MW)  Date

Stony Brook 321.3 Gas/Oil July 1, 2008 
Intermediate

Stony Brook Peaking 172.7 Oil July 1, 2005

Seabrook Station 144.4 Nuclear July 1, 2019

Millstone Unit No. 3 59.3 Nuclear July 1, 2018

Wyman Unit No. 4 22.4 Oil July 1, 2008

Total: 720.1

As the dynamics of energy and financial 
markets have changed, innovation has 
taken its place alongside tradition in 
addressing new challenges.
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A Proactive Approach To The Future

The Obama administration is committed to changing the way America 
uses, produces and delivers electricity. Relevant proposals are focused 
on reducing carbon emissions, increasing energy efficiency, developing 
renewable energy resources, expanding the transmission grid and making 
the grid “smarter”. 

In many respects, Massachusetts is ahead of the curve with its 
adoption of a renewable portfolio standard (RPS), participation in the 
Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) and implementation of 
diverse programs to promote energy efficiency and renewable energy 
development.

The financial and technical requirements for making these changes on 
a national scale are uncertain. Ultimately, whatever the cost, consumers 
will be required to pay through higher electric bills and higher prices for 
affected goods and services.

Not knowing the nature and scope of what changes may be implemented 
makes it impossible to determine the impact of these initiatives on 
the MMWEC organization. Consistent with historic treatment, some 

things mandated for investor-owned utilities may not apply to municipal 
utilities, such as the Massachusetts RPS standard. However, with approval 
of funding for multiple energy initiatives in the American Recovery 
and Reinvestment Act, Congress has indicated its support for the 
administration’s energy objectives, fueling speculation by credit rating 
agencies and others about the impacts on all utilities, including municipals.

MMWEC and its Members are working proactively to prepare for 
these widely anticipated changes in the electric industry. In this process, 
MMWEC interacts with state and federal officials to advance shared 
energy goals, including many associated with carbon emissions reduction. 
This work spans a wide range of conventional and innovative activities, 
from construction of a highly efficient, 280-megawatt gas-fired power plant 
to installation of a 10-kilowatt solar array on the front lawn of MMWEC’s 
administrative office building. Some concrete examples include:

• Without mandate, Members are building a renewable energy 
portfolio that includes several wind and solar projects, highlighted by 
the 15-megawatt Berkshire Wind Power Project.
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• Renewable energy initiatives feature the use of new corporate 
entities and innovative services inspired by the ineligibility of 
municipal utilities for existing state programs.

• MMWEC is participating in the RGGI auctions of emission 
allowances, procuring allowances sufficient to operate its Stony 
Brook plants while gaining valuable experience in carbon markets.

• MMWEC is working to capture federal stimulus funding for energy 
efficiency initiatives in its Member communities, an effort that 
is requiring the expansion of existing and development of new 
services.

• At a time when alternative energy resources are not yet 
adequate to meet Members’ baseload power needs, MMWEC is 
demonstrating its commitment to emissions control in its plans to 
construct the new, natural gas-fired Stony Brook unit, which includes 
a highly efficient design and state-of-the-art emissions control 
technologies.

• As massive 
expansions of the 
electric power grid 
are being proposed, 
MMWEC is seeking 
to ensure that public 
entities have an opportunity to own and finance new transmission 
facilities and that related costs are as low as possible.

MMWEC and its Members are not watching idly as this unprecedented 
wave of change ripples throughout the energy industry. We are 
embracing resources and activities that strengthen our current position 
and enhance our prospects for success in the future.

MMWEC and its Members are  
working proactively to prepare for 
these widely anticipated changes in  
the electric industry.



Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company6

Project Updates

Stony Brook 3 (SB3)

Profile: A 280-megawatt, combined-cycle addition to MMWEC’s 
existing Stony Brook units, needed to meet the future baseload power 
needs of MMWEC Member utilities. Fired primarily with natural gas, SB3 
will share site infrastructure with existing units. Project development is 
fully subscribed and features highly efficient design and state-of-the-art 
emission controls.

Status: Virtually all major state permits in hand, including Massachusetts 
Energy Facilities Siting Board approval to construct. Project contracting 
and financing planned for completion in 2009, with construction starting 
in 2011. Projected commercial operation date (COD) is mid-2013.

Outlook: SB3 is an essential baseload component of Members’ power 
supply. Current COD reflects the schedule for resolution of long-
standing transmission problems in the Springfield, Mass. area. Level of 
progress and outlook are very good.

Solar Program

Profile: Due to ineligibility for state solar program, MMWEC in 2008 
created a one-stop program for municipal utilities to develop solar 
photovoltaic (PV) projects. Program provides solar panels, electric 
current inverters and installation services through a single, turnkey 
agreement with MMWEC. In partnership with Evergreen Solar, program 
uses Massachusetts-based products and services, features discounted 
pricing and is consistent with state’s renewable energy goals.

Status: Three projects totaling 27 kilowatts in operation in municipal 
utility communities. Projects in numerous other communities are in 
various stages of development, including a 360-kilowatt project in West 
Boylston that is under development by a newly formed Municipal Lighting 
Plant Cooperative.

Outlook: Current projects intended to demonstrate the feasibility of 
solar PV on public buildings and sites in municipal utility communities. 
Program holds potential for expansion to serve residential, commercial, 
industrial and institutional customers of municipal utilities.
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Berkshire Wind

Profile: A 15-megawatt, 10-turbine wind project on Brodie Mountain 
in Western Massachusetts. Project assets, including permits, easements, 
engineering documents and other items, purchased in 2008 and being 
developed by the Berkshire Wind Power Cooperative Corporation, a 
creation of 14 Member municipal utilities and MMWEC. 

Status: Selection of general construction contractor scheduled for 
May 2009. Contract to purchase 10, 1.5-megawatt General Electric wind 
turbines in final stages of negotiation. Construction is scheduled to start 
in summer 2009 and be completed in November 2009.

Outlook: Before the recession, wind turbine purchase and project 
development lead times were long. With multiple projects delayed, 
the cooperative has been able to purchase turbines and move the 
project forward quicker than initially planned. Berkshire Wind is closer 
to producing renewable energy than any other multiple-turbine wind 
project in the state. The outlook from all perspectives is very good.

“You are on the front lines and doing the 
hard work of implementing the state’s 
energy policy.”

– Lt. Gov. Tim Murray 
Speaking at MMWEC’s Annual Conference
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Single Source Service

Member utilities rely on MMWEC as their single source for expertise 
and value across a broad range of essential services, including resource 
development, portfolio management, plant operations, markets 
administration and government affairs. Here are some examples of 
how MMWEC provides these services, drawing on nearly 40 years of 
experience in meeting municipal utility needs.

Portfolio Management

Portfolio management at MMWEC is an integrated activity that 
encompasses power supply planning, market analysis, resource 
development, contracting and risk management. These services are 
designed to meet individual Member needs and accommodate each 
system’s risk tolerance and portfolio goals.

Upgrades in technology and management systems have enabled MMWEC 
staff to better monitor fuel price and marketplace activity, conduct a 
wider range of analyses and complete transactions with greater efficiency 

and economy. Managing Members’ exposure to volatile fuel and energy 
prices is a key objective.

Personal customer service is a feature of MMWEC’s portfolio 
management that keeps Members informed of changing opportunities 
and risks, like those associated with the recent rise and fall of fuel and 
energy prices. Current low prices have provided opportunities to hedge 
Members’ market exposure with forward purchases of fuel and energy 
as far out as 2011. At the same time, economic conditions dictate that 
MMWEC take extra care in assessing counterparty risks and securing 
adequate financial assurance from its trading partners.

MMWEC provides its Members with a rolling, 18-month projection of 
their bulk power costs and delivers timely, on-line information about 
their portfolio positions. These and other portfolio management services 
reflect the diversity and integration required for success in today’s 
energy marketplace.
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Wholesale Market Services

MMWEC has guarded municipal utility interests through all of the major 
changes in New England’s wholesale power markets, from establishment 
of the New England Power Pool in the 1970’s to creation of ISO-New 
England (ISO-NE) and the ongoing development of competitive markets.

In addition to its long-standing involvement in matters affecting 
marketplace governance, MMWEC provides the many services required 
for Members to participate effectively in wholesale power markets. 
As the marketplace has evolved to include new rules, products and 
compliance requirements, so have the services provided by MMWEC.

MMWEC manages each of its Members’ interactions with ISO-NE, from 
collecting and reporting daily load data to the settlement, financing and 
payment of ISO-NE interchange bills. Among other things, MMWEC 
submits daily load and generation bids for its Members and bids its 
Members’ resources into capacity, forward reserves and demand 
response markets.

These and other services require management and analysis of large 
volumes of data. Member data on loads, resources, reliability and other 
variables are compiled and submitted as required to ISO-NE. MMWEC 
has developed the capability to extract Member data from the ISO-NE 
database and provide Members with real-time information on dispatch of 
their generation and loads. Each Member’s competitive position relative 
to private utilities is reflected in quarterly reports from MMWEC.

Another important aspect of MMWEC’s wholesale market services 
involves participation on the ISO-NE committees that develop market 
rules. Effective Member participation in wholesale markets is the goal of 
these various services, which are helping Member utilities maintain their 
strong competitive position in the marketplace.

Plant 
Operations

MMWEC successfully 
completed one of 
the most lengthy and 
complex outages in the 
history of the Stony 
Brook power plant in 
December 2008. The 65-
day outage, completed 
ahead of schedule and on 
budget with no lost-time 
accidents, has enhanced the plant’s 
readiness to meet marketplace 
commitments and comply with 
the mandatory standards of the 
North American Electric Reliability 
Corporation. The Stony Brook 
plant, including the 321-megawatt 
Intermediate Unit and the 
173-megawatt Peaking Unit, is 
operated and principally owned by 
MMWEC.

Distinguished by the diversity 
and scope of work on major 
plant components and systems, the outage required a wide range 
of administrative, technical and operational expertise on the part of 
MMWEC staff. Outage work included:

• A complete overhaul of the Intermediate Unit steam turbine and 
rewind of the steam turbine generator field;
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• A major overhaul of Intermediate Unit 1B, including installation of a 
new turbine rotor and a new compressor rotor;

• Replacement of two cooling tower fans and installation of a new 
relay protection system;

• Pole replacement on the plant’s 345-kilovolt transmission system; and

• Countless other tasks involving the inspection, cleaning, and testing 
of boilers, piping systems, fuel tanks, pumps, transformers and other 
plant components.

As MMWEC plans for construction of a new combined-cycle unit at the 
Stony Brook site, its plant operations capabilities remain crisp and current.

Government Affairs

MMWEC has increased its legislative and regulatory presence as an 
advocate for the interests of its Member utilities, working closely with 
state officials to advance shared energy goals and providing information 
to federal decision-makers about the local impacts of their actions.

Much of this work involves efforts to ensure that Member utilities are 
eligible to share equitably in the benefits of state and federal initiatives 
that promote energy efficiency and renewable energy development. 
MMWEC also is advancing its positions regarding specific impacts of 
wholesale power market operations, including the need for ISO-NE to be 
more accountable to consumers.

In January 2009, a contingent of MMWEC representatives met with federal 
legislators in Washington, D.C. to discuss impacts of proposals to expand 
the nation’s transmission system, develop a cap-and-trade program for 
carbon emissions and establish a national renewable portfolio standard. 

With New England transmission 
costs rising, MMWEC is working 
with members of Congress and 
the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission to control costs 
and ensure that municipal utilities 
have an opportunity to own and 
share in the financing of new 
transmission facilities.

Passage of amendments to 
MMWEC’s enabling legislation in 
2009 required close work and 
cooperation with state officials, 
a process that is continuing as MMWEC seeks to obtain economic 
stimulus funding for its energy initiatives from state and federal agencies.

Proposals to reshape the energy industry increase the need for such 
advocacy, and MMWEC intends to be proactive in addressing the impacts 
of legislative and regulatory decisions on the local operations and 
consumers of its Member utilities.

Ron DeCurzio, Tom Josie, Brad White and Bob 
Jolly representing MMWEC in Washington, D.C.
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Members & Project Participants

Ashburnham Municipal Light Department*

Boylston Municipal Light Department*

Braintree Electric Light Department

Danvers Electric Division

Georgetown Municipal Light Department

Groton Electric Light Department*

Hingham Municipal Lighting Plant

Holden Municipal Light Department*

Holyoke Gas & Electric Department*

Hudson Light & Power Department

Hull Municipal Lighting Plant*

Ipswich Municipal Light Department*

Littleton Electric Light & Water

Mansfield Municipal Electric Department*

Marblehead Municipal Light Department*

Middleborough Gas & Electric Department

Middleton Municipal Electric Department

North Attleborough Electric Department

Paxton Municipal Light Department*

Peabody Municipal Light Plant*

Princeton Municipal Light Department*

Reading Municipal Light Department

Shrewsbury Electric & Cable Operations*

South Hadley Electric Light Department

Sterling Municipal Light Department*

Templeton Municipal Light & Water Plant*

Wakefield Municipal Gas & Light Department*

West Boylston Municipal Lighting Plant*

Westfield Gas & Electric*

Out of State 
Project Participants

Pascoag (RI) Utility District

Green Mountain Power Corporation (VT)

Hardwick (VT) Electric Department

Ludlow (VT) Electric Light Department

Morrisville (VT) Water and Light Department

Stowe (VT) Electric Department

Swanson (VT) Electric Department

MMWEC administers the 53.3-megawatt Massachusetts allocation of preference 
power from New York’s Niagara Hydroelectric Project (left), which is distributed 
to all 40 Massachusetts municipal utilities.

Massachusetts

*MMWEC Members



2008 Financial Statements

MMWEC’s Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are contained on the CD 
included in this year’s annual report.

Copies of this report and supplemental financial information can be obtained, free of charge, by writing to:

Corporate Communications Office 
Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company 
P.O. Box 426, Ludlow, MA 01056

The Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company (MMWEC) is a not-for-profit, public corporation and 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, created in 1976 through an Act of the Massachusetts 
General Court. MMWEC provides a broad range of power supply, financial, risk management and other services to 
enhance the competitiveness of Massachusetts municipal utilities. MMWEC also is the operator and principal owner of 
the Stony Brook power plant, a 520-megawatt, combined-cycle generating station located at MMWEC’s Stony Brook 
Energy Center in Ludlow, Massachusetts.



Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company 
PO Box 426, Ludlow, MA 01056 
Phone: 413/589.0141 | Fax: 413/583.8994 
E-mail: mmwec@mmwec.org | Internet: www.mmwec.org

Paper is Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) certified, 
Green Seal™ Certified, Green-E Certified and Processed 
Chlorine Free (PCF). 100% post consumer recycled fiber.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Members of
Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric
Company as of December 31, 2008, and the related statements of revenues and expenses and cash
flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of Massachusetts
Municipal Whoiesale Electric Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2007 were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 10, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2008 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company as of December 31,
2008, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Management's Discussion and Analysis is not a required part of the basic financial statements,
but is supplemental information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We have
applied certain limited procedures that consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the
methods of measurement and presentation of the supplemental information. However, we did not audit
the information and express no opinion on it.

The project financial statements and debt service coverage information as identified in the table of
contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial
statements. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the financial statements and, accordingly we express no opinion on the information.

dt~~&&ö/~e
VITALE, CATURANO & COMPANY, P.C.

March 30, 2009
Boston, Massachusetts

80 City Square Boston, MA 02129-3742 P 617.912.9000 F 617.912.9001 www.vitale.com .. AN INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF BAKER T1l Y INTERNATIONH

Assurance . Tax . Business Advisory . Wealth Management . Technology Consulting
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Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

The following discussion and analysis of the Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric

Company (MMWEC) provides an overview and analysis of MMWEC's financial performance
during the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007. This discussion and analysis should be
read in conjunction with MMWEC's financial statements and the accompanying notes.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MMWEC is a public corporation and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts formed to be a joint action agency and to develop a bulk power supply for its
member Massachusetts cities and towns having municipal electric systems (Members) and other
utilities, both private and public. Among other things, MMWEC is authorized to construct, own or
purchase ownership interests in energy facilities and to issue revenue bonds for such purposes.
MMWEC's ownership interest in energy generation facilities are through various Projects. The
bonds of any bond issue relating to a Project are secured solely by revenues derived from that
Project. Project revenues are derived primarily from Power Sales Agreements (PSAs) with
MMWEC's Members and other utiities that are Participants in a Project (Project Participants).
MMWEC's bulk power supply program consists of power purchase arrangements, power
brokering services, planning and financial services, and the Projects relating to generating

facilities built and operated either by MMWEC or other regional utilities.

The accounting records of MMWEC are maintained in accordance with the Uniform System of
Accounts for Public Utiities and Licensees prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission and in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles for regulated
utilities using the accrual basis of accounting. This also includes Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regu/ation as it
relates to the deferral of revenues and expenses to future periods in which the revenues are
expected to be earned or expenses expected to be recovered through the ratemaking process.

MMWEC follows all Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) statements and follows
all Financial Accounting Standards issued before November 30, 1989. MMWEC also follows all
Financial Accounting Standards Board statements issued after November 30, 1989, only if there
is no GASB guidance available.

In 2006, amounts recoverable (payable) under the terms of the power sales agreements, other
deferred charges and other liabilities on the Balance Sheet were restated due to the pension
liability being valued in 2006 based on FASB Statements instead of GASB interpretations. In
2007, MMWEC implemented the full GASB pension disclosures in the financial statements.

This annual report consists of two parts: Management's Discussion and Analysis (this section)
and the basic financial statements. The Balance Sheet reports year-end assets and liabilities
based on the original cost adjusted for any depreciation, amortization or unrealized gains/losses
as appropriate. The Statement of Revenues and Expenses presents MMWEC's operating
revenues and expenses incurred as a result of MMWEC's business activity. The Statement of
Cash Flows reports the cash provided and used for operating activities, as well as other cash
sources such as investment income and cash payments for repayment of bonds and capital
additions.



Page 3

Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31,2008 and 2007

MMWEC FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

An analysis of MMWEC's financial position begins with the review of the Balance Sheets, the
Statements of Revenues and Expenses and the Statements of Cash Flows. A summary of
MMWEC's Condensed Balance Sheets is presented in Table 1. The Condensed Statements of
Revenues and Expenses is summarized in Table 2 and the Condensed Statements of Cash
Flows is summarized in Table 3.

Table 1

Condensed Balance Sheets

Restated
2008 2007 2006

(In Thousands)

Current assets $ 231 ,533 $ 295,050 $ 87,068
Restricted assets 71,243 44,261 280,624
Other assets 72,234 74,200 73,409
Utilty plant 606,998 615.159 608.000

Total assets $ 982.008 $ 1.028.670 $ 1 ,049.1 01

Current liabilties $ 181,150 $ 200,715 $ 205,096
Non-current liabilties 800.858 827.955 844.005

T otalliabilties $ 982.008 $ 1.028.670 $ 1.049.101

Table 2

Condensed Statements of Revenues and Expenses

Restated
2008 2007 2006

(In Thousands)

Operating revenues $ 404.617 $ 362.042 $ 354,498

Depreciation expense 14,542 16,242 22,794
Other operating expenses 305.620 260.643 251.523

Total operating expenses 320,162 276.885 274.317

Operating income 84,455 85.157 80 .181

Investment income 1,023 17,418 17,067
Interest expense (25,445) (29,818) (32,772)
Increase in amounts payable under

terms of the power sales agreements (60,142) (72,956) (64,528)
Other income 109 199 52

Total non-operating (revenues) (84,455) (85.157) (80.181)

Net revenues and expenses $ $ $
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MMWEC FINANCIAL ANALYSIS.. .continued

Table 3

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Restated
2008 2007 2006

69,181 $ 107,859 $ 116,902
29,068 13,682 (759)

(101.340) (119.620) (141.084)

(3,091 ) 1,921 (24,941 )

115.811 113.890 138.831

112.720 $ 115.811 $ 113.890

Net cash provided by operating activities $
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash used in capital and related financing

activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $

BALANCE SHEET

The majority of MMWEC's Balance Sheet consists of the financial activity relating to various
Projects, representing ownership interests in various electric generation facilities for which
MMWEC has corresponding PSAs with each Project Participant. MMWEC's joint ownership
interests are shown in Note 8 - Project Joint Ownership Agreements in the accompanying notes.
The following analysis compares 2008 financial results to 2007 financial results.

In 2008, utility plant had a net decrease as compared to 2007 due to less nuclear fuel offset by
an increase in capital expenditures and accumulated depreciation of MMWEC plant assets. The
majority of the capital expenditure increase relates to improvement projects for the Seabrook
Station nuclear power plant, including the completion of the dry cask storage system, which
allows for all of Seabrook's spent nuclear fuel to be stored on site, generator rewind and

containment sump screen modifications. Accumulated depreciation increased but not at the
same level as previous years. Depreciation for Seabrook Station and Millstone Unit 3 for 2008
and 2007 has been generally level, but depreciation for both Stony Brook Intermediate and
Peaking has ceased as both facilities have been in operation for over 25 years and are fully
depreciated.

Restricted assets decreased primarily due to a decrease in a fund (collected in connection with a
terminated power purchase contract) as a result of offsets from the fund for purchased power
costs of those participants in the terminated contract. In addition, the Bond Fund decreased
primarily due to a reduction in the required bond principal deposits for the final Stony Brook
Intermediate and Wyman Project Revenue Bonds payments in July 2008. These final payments
also reduced the investments in the Stony Brook Intermediate and Wyman Projects' Revenue
Funds, which are no longer required under the General Bond Resolution (GBR). In addition, the
Revenue Fund balance was lower due to nuclear fuel expenditures for Seabrook Station. There
were also decreases in MMWEC Members' contributions to the Working Capital Fund.
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BALANCE SHEET...continued

Current assets decreased due to lower net power billings for PSA's and power purchases in 2008
and a decrease in the current portion of restricted special funds. These decreases were offset
by an increase in cash and temporary investments due to investments, which had been classified
as long-term in 2007 under MMWEC's GBR and included in restricted assets, now being
classified as operating funds and included in cash & temporary investments. In addition, fuel oil
inventory for the Stony Brook Projects was higher in 2008 as compared to 2007.

Other assets decreased slightly due to a decrease in the valuation of the Nuclear
Decommissioning Trusts, offset by an increase in the net pension obligation.

Current liabilities decreased primarily due to decreases in accrued expenses, accounts payable
and current maturities of long-term debt. On July 1, 2008, MMWEC made its scheduled bond
principal payment of $71.4 million, which included the final Bond principal payments for the
Stony Brook Intermediate and Wyman Projects.

Non-current liabilities decreased primarily as a result of long-term debt due July 1, 2008 being
classified as current maturities of long-term debt, which included the final Stony Brook
Intermediate and Wyman Project Revenue Bonds payment made in July 2008 and the annual
amortization of unamortized premium. In addition, there was a decrease in the liability to the
participants in a fund created in connection with a terminated power purchase contract, as those
funds were used to offset power purchase expenses. These decreases were offset by an
increase to asset retirement obligations related to Seabrook Station and Millstone Unit 3 for
accretion expense recorded in 2008 and an increase in amounts payable under terms of the
PSAs because billings to the Project Participants of principal payments on bonds issued to
finance the MMWEC Projects are far exceeding depreciation expense. Generally, MMWEC
revenue bonds are to be retired by 2019, but Seabrook Station and Millstone Unit 3 are being
depreciated over 60 years. An explanation of amounts payable under terms of the PSAs is
provided in Note 1 of the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

The majority of MMWEC's Statement of Revenues and Expenses consists of the financial activity
relating to revenues and expenses from power purchases and the PSAs for the Projects. Project
revenues are derived, primarily, from PSAs with Project Participants. Under all PSAs, the
Participants are required to pay their respective shares of MMWEC's actual costs relating to the
Projects, including debt service. Thus, MMWEC's revenues for an individual Project are
dependent on debt service and costs of that particular Project. Revenues for the individual
Projects vary from year to year as MMWEC's costs vary. MMWEC bills out only its expenses and
costs associated with each Project plus certain other amounts required pursuant to the GBR.

Operating revenues and expenses increased in 2008. Power purchase revenues and operating
expenses increased primarily due to higher interchange billings from ISO New England, Inc.,
reflecting increased power and ancillary expenses. Maintenance increased primarily due to the
fall 2008 scheduled outage to overhaul the Stony Brook Intermediate steam turbine, gas turbine
rotor and make improvements to the transmission facilities.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES...continued

Depreciation expense decreased primarily due to the majority of the plant in service for the Stony
Brook Intermediate Project being fully depreciated as of 2006 and the majority of the Peaking
Project being depreciated fully as of 2007.

Investment income, which is a result of varying fund balances and interest rates, decreased in
2008 primarily due to poor market conditions, lower fund balances and a lower interest rate
environment.

Interest expense was lower in 2008, primarily due to a reduction in long-term debt as MMWEC
made the scheduled $71.4 million bond payment on July 1, 2008.

Amounts payable under terms of the PSAs decreased in 2008 and an explanation is provided in
Note 1 of the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as investments, having an initial maturity of three months
or less at purchase, plus immediately accessible bank accounts. In 2008, cash and cash

equivalents decreased from 2007. The primary reason for this decrease was net cash provided
by operating activities which included a decrease in unbilled revenue resulting from lower net
power billings and power purchases. This was offset by decreases in accounts payable as a
result of lower lead owner billings in 2008, member and participant advances and accrued
expenses and an increase in inventories associated with fuel oil for the Stony Brook Power Plant
and accounts receivable. Net cash provided by investing activities in 2008 was lower than 2007
due to lower interest rates, unfavorable market conditions and fewer restricted assets resulting
from the final Stony Brook Intermediate and Wyman Project Revenue Bond payments in July
2008. Also, net cash used in capital and related financing activities decreased in 2008 as
compared to 2007 due primarily to less nuclear fuel expenditures.

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE

For the contract years ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, MMWEC met the GBR debt service
coverage requirements for all of MMWEC's Projects. In accordance with the provisions of
MMWEC's GBR, MMWEC covenants that it shall fix, revise and collect rates, tolls, rents and
other fees and charges sufficient to produce revenues to pay all operating and maintenance
expenses, principal of the Bonds and premium and interest on the Bonds associated with each
Project. In addition, MMWEC covenants that it will pay all other obligations against its revenues
for each Project. Revenues for each Project, which include applicable interest earnings from
investments, are required to equal 1.10 times the annual debt service for each contract year

ending June 30, after deduction of certain operating and maintenance expenses and exclusive of
depreciation. Further details can be found in the Supplemental Information to the financial
statements.
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DEBT RATINGS

During 2008, Standard & Poor's, following its annual credit review of MMWEC, upgraded its
ratings on MMWEC's Nuclear Mix No.1, Nuclear Project NO.3 and Nuclear Project NO.4 from
A-to A and also affirmed its A rating for Nuclear Project No.5 and BBB+ rating for Project NO.6.
The upgrades reflect the improved credit quality of the MMWEC members participating in these
projects, and sustained strong debt service coverage and liquidity for each project.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

In April 2008, MMWEC and 14 Massachusetts municipal light departments created, pursuant to
Massachusetts law, the Berkshire Wind Power Cooperative Corporation (Wind Cooperative).
The purpose of the Wind Cooperative is to finance, own and operate the approximately 15 MW
wind farm development in Hancock and Lanesborough, Massachusetts. MMWEC is obligated by
a service contract to provide financial, accounting, engineering and other services to the Wind
Cooperative. Also, pursuant to a power sales contract, MMWEC will purchase all of the output of
the Wind Cooperative and sell all of that output under take or pay contracts to the 14 municipal
light departments who are members of the Wind Cooperative. MMWEC is in the process of
assisting the Wind Cooperative in issuing long-term bonds for the Wind Cooperative to finance
the purchase of 10 turbines and to pay the capitalized cost of constructing the wind farm. The
Wind Cooperative paid $4 million to a developer for all its assets that enable the Wind
Cooperative to build and operate the Berkshire Wind Project.

During 2008, MMWEC continued development work on its plans to build a 280-megawatt
combined-cycle generating unit at its Stony Brook site in Ludlow. During 2008, the development
of the Project achieved full subscription; the Energy Facilities Siting Board issued its Final
Decision to MMWEC for the construction of the plant. MMWEC currently is working to complete
the Joint Ownership/Power Sales Agreement ("JOA/PSA") processes with the Project's Joint
Owner and Project Participants. Once the JOA/PSA processes are complete, MMWEC will
petition the Department of Public Utilities for approval to finance, at which time the financing of
the Project can commence. Project financing is expected to be completed in 2009 with
construction beginning in 2011. The Project is expected to have a commercial operation date in
mid-2013. Twenty-six municipal entities have subscribed to development of the full 280
megawatts of the project's anticipated output.

As of December 31, 2008, 18 Massachusetts municipal electric systems were Members of
MMWEC. Four systems terminated their membership in 2008. Termination of membership
requires payment of all expenses due under the Service Agreement and does not relieve a
system of its PSA or other power purchase obligations.
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MMWEC PROJECT OPERATIONS

The following table provides information for 2008 for the MMWEC Projects. See Note 8 - Project
Joint Ownership Agreements in the accompanying notes for additional information.

MMWEC Project Operations
YTD through December 2008

Stony Brook Stony Brook

Intermediate Peakinq Seabrook Millstone 3 Wyman

Availability 81.81 % 96.08% 86.49% 88.11 % 78.77%
Capacity 5.29% 0.44 % 85.47% 87.06% 2.39%Factor
Generation 149,206 6,626 1,083,941 423,741 4,698

MWH

The capacity factor represents the percentage of electricity actually produced as compared with
potential production.

CONTACT INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of MMWEC's finances. Questions
or requests for additional information should be addressed to MMWEC Attn: Controller, PO
Box 426, Ludlow, Mass. 01056.
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December 31,2008 and 2007

(In Thousands)

2008 2007

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and temporary investments $ 13,591 $ 9,214

Accounts receivable 32,445 31,475

Unbilled revenues 15,946 20,673

Inventories 26,912 24,899

Prepaid expenses 913 898

Current portion of restricted special funds 141,726 207,891

Total current assets 231,533 295,050

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted assets:

Restricted special funds 70,307 42,816

Interest receivable 936 1 ,445

Deferred charges:

Unamortized debt discount and expenses 3,400 4,350

Nuclear decommissioning trust 48,845 54,973

Other 19,989 14,877

Total noncurrent assets 143,477 118,461

Capital assets:

In seNice 1,331,009 1,321,610

Accumulated depreciation (760,160) (745,870)
Construction Work in progress 10,505 9,810

Nuclear fuel - net of amortization 25,644 29,609

Total capital assets 606,998 615,159

Total assets $ 982,008 $ 1,028,670

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 14,745 $ 20,209

Member and participant advances 65,731 74,492

Short-term debt 4,978 760

Accrued expenses 27,270 33,448

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Current maturities of long-term debt 68,426 71,806

Total current liabilities 181,150 200,715

Noncurrent liabilities:

Long-term debt, net of premiums 511,049 582,547

Asset retirement obligation 95,432 90,836

Amounts payable under terms of the power sales agreements 137,725 77,833

Other liabilities 56,652 76,739

Total noncurrent liabilties 800,858 827,955

Total liabilities $ 982,008 $ 1,028,670

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(In Thousands)

2008 2007

Operating revenues:

Revenues $ 404,617 $ 362,042

Operating expenses:

Fuel used in electric generation 28,447 26,957

Purchased power 207,741 177,652

Other operating 45,648 42,121

Maintenance 18,943 9,843

Depreciation 14,542 16,242

Taxes other than income 4,841 4,070

Total operating expenses 320,162 276,885

Operating income 84,455 85,157

Non-operating revenues (expenses):

Investment income 1,023 17,418

Interest expense on long-term debt (27,988) (32,925)
Amortization of premium on long-term debt 3,493 4,252
Amortization of debt discount and expenses (950) (1,145)
Interest charged to projects during construction 109 199

Increase in amounts payable under terms of the

power sales agreements (60,142) (72,956)
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (84,455) (85,157)

Net revenues and expenses $ - $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,2008 and 2007

(In Thousands)

2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Received from sales to members and participants $ 379,526 $ 350,512

Paid to suppliers for goods and services (310,345) (242,653)
Net cash provided by operating activates 69,181 107,859

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net maturities and purchases of investments 33,608 26,280

Interest received 9,171 17,551

Construction expenditures and purchases of nuclear fuel (13,711) (30,149)
Net cash provided by investing activities 29,068 13,682

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of short-term debt 35,933 21,929

Principal payments on long-term debt (71,385) (73,005)
Principal payments on short-term debt (31,715) (28,851 )

Decommissioning trust payments (1,511) (4,850)
Interest payments on long-term debt (32,662) (34,843)

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (101,340) (119,620)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (3,091 ) 1,921

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 115,811 113,890

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 112,720 $ 115,811

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31 , 2008 and 2007

(In Thousands)

2008 2007

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Operating income $ 84,455 $ 85,157
Noncash items included in operating income:

Depreciation 14,542 16,242

Amortization of nuclear fuel and accretion of ARO 11,926 11 ,224

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable (970) 2,646
Unbilled revenues 4,727 (2,458)
Inventories (2,013) 3,719
Prepaid expenses (15) (18)

Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable (5,464) 3,373
Member and participant advances (8,761) 5,179
Accrued expenses (9,159) (309)
Deferred credits and other liabilities (20,087) (16,896)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 69,181 $ 107,859

Reconcilation of cash and cash equivalents to the balance sheet:
Cash and temporary investments $ 13,591 $ 9,214

Total restricted special funds 212,033 250,707
Total cash and investments 225,624 259,921

Less - investments included in restricted special funds (112,904) (144,110)

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 112,720 $ 115,811

In 2008 and 2007, MMWEC recorded $60,142 and $72,956, respectively, of noncash activity related to

amounts recoverable under terms of the power sales agreements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Reportinq Entitv/Nature of Business

The Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company (MMWEC) is a public corporation and
a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts formed to be a joint action agency
to develop a bulk power supply for its member Massachusetts cities and towns having municipal
electric systems (Members) and other utilities, both public and private. Among other things,
MMWEC is authorized to construct, own, or purchase ownership interests in energy facilities and
to issue revenue bonds for such purposes. MMWEC's ownership interest in energy generation
facilities are through various Projects (Note 8). Pursuant to its General Bond Resolution (GBR),
the bonds of any bond issue relating to a Project are secured solely by revenues derived from
that Project. Project revenues are derived primarily from Power Sales Agreements (PSAs) with
MMWEC's Members and other utilities who are Participants in a Project (Project Participants).
MMWEC's bulk power supply program consists of power purchase arrangements, power
brokering services, planning and financial services, and the Projects relating to generating

facilities built and operated either by MMWEC or other regional utilities.

A Massachusetts city or town having a municipal electric system, authorized by majority vote of
the city or town, may become a Member of MMWEC by applying for admission and agreeing to
comply with the terms and conditions of membership as MMWEC By-Laws may require. As of
December 31, 2008, 18 Massachusetts municipal electric systems were Members.

Measurement Focus. Basis of Accountinq and Financial Statement Presentation

The accounting records of MMWEC are maintained in accordance with the Uniform System of
Accounts for Public Utiities and Licensees prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission and in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for
regulated utilities using the accrual basis of accounting. Additionally, MMWEC follows Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of
Regulation as it relates to the deferral of revenues and expenses to future periods in which the
revenues are expected to be earned or expenses are expected to be recovered through the
ratemaking process.

MMWEC follows all Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) statements and follows
all Financial Accounting Standards issued before November 30, 1989. MMWEC also follows all
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) statements issued after November 30, 1989, only
if there is no GASB guidance available.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements (SFAS 157), which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The new standard provides a
consistent definition of fair value which focuses on an exit price, which is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The standard also prioritizes, within the measurement of
fair value, the use of market-based information over entity specific information and establishes a
three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the
valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date.

Level 1 -Pricing inputs are quoted prices available in active markets for identical investments as
of the reporting date. As required by SFAS 157, the Company does not adjust the quoted price
for these investments, even in situations where the Company holds a large position and a sale
could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level 2 -Pricing inputs are quoted prices for similar investments, or inputs that are observable,
either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term through corroboration with observable
market data. Level 2 includes investments valued at quoted prices adjusted for legal or
contractual restrictions specific to these investments.

Level 3 -Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment, that is, inputs that reflect the
reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability. Level 3 includes private investments that are supported by little or
no market activity.

SFAS 157 has been applied as of January 1, 2008.

All of MMWEC's financial instruments are either level 1 or level 2 as defined by FAS 157.

The following table presents the financial instruments carried at fair value as of December 31,
2008 in accordance with the SFAS 157 hierarchy (as defined above).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments as of
December 31,2008 $ 58.765 $ 166.859 $ $ 225.624

The fair value of the level 1 instruments is based on quoted market prices.

The fair value of the level 2 instruments is based on market prices for the same or similar issues.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

MMWEC's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, receivables from
members, debt, and accounts payable. The carrying values of these short-term financial
instruments approximate their estimated fair values based on the instruments short-term nature.

The estimated fair value of MMWEC's long term debt is as follows:

2008 2007
(In Thousands)

Estimated
Carrying Fair Carrying
Value Value Value

Estimated
Fair

Value

Long-term debt, excluding
Current maturities $ 502.245 $ 515.643 $ 570.245 $ 592.464

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices for the same or
similar issues.

Assets and Liabilities

Cash and Temporary Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are cash and investments having
an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

MMWEC has adopted an investment policy, which is approved annually by MMWEC's Board of
Directors as required by MMWEC's GBR. Although certain cash and temporary investment
amounts used for power purchases and working capital requirements of MMWEC are not subject
to the provisions of the GBR, they are subject to the provisions of the investment policy.

Investments are stated at fair value, as defined above. No investments are reported at
amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the
statement of revenues and expenses as increases or decreases in investment income.

Through its investment policy, MMWEC is restricted to investing in certain types of securities and
investments, which are:

a. Direct obligations of the United States of America

b. Bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness issued

by various federal agencies
c. New housing authority bonds issued by public agencies
d. Bonds or notes issued by states and municipalities that are rated

in one of the two highest rated categories by rating agencies
e. Bank time deposits

f. Repurchase agreements
g. Federal funds or bankers acceptances

h. Investment agreements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Assets and Liabilities...continued

Inventories

Fuel oil and spare parts inventories are recorded and accounted for by the average cost method.
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, total fuel oil inventory was valued at $16.5 and $15.0 million,
respectively, and spare parts inventory amounted to $10.4 and $9.9 million, respectively.
Inventory is reported at cost or market value, whichever is lower.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding
balances. Based on the validity of contracts and collection history, an allowance for doubtful
accounts is not considered necessary. Should these circumstances change, an allowance for

doubtful accounts would be provided for those accounts receivable considered to be
uncollectible at the end of the year, and the bad debts would be written off against the allowance
when identified.

Unbiled Revenue

Un billed revenues are revenues that are not yet billed under the Service Agreement and other
power arrangements and represent a portion of December services collectible in January of the
subsequent year.

Nuclear Fuel

Nuclear fuel, net of amortization, includes MMWEC's ownership interest in spent nuclear fuel,
fuel in reactor, in stock and in process for both Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station. The cost
of nuclear fuel is amortized to fuel used in electric generation for each nuclear unit based on the
relationship of energy produced in the current period to total expected energy production for fuel
in the reactor. A provision for fuel disposal costs is included in fuel used in electric generation

based upon disposal contracts with the Department of Energy (DOE). In addition, fuel used in
electric generation includes the annual assessment, under the Energy Policy Act of 1992, for the
cost of decontamination and decommissioning of uranium enrichment plants operated by the
DOE. The final billing from the DOE occurred in 2006. MMWEC, along with all of the other joint
owners of both Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station, has filed claims against the DOE in the
United States Court of Claims for partial breach of the disposal contracts with the DOE.

With respect to Seabrook Station, MMWEC, and the other Seabrook Station joint owners, are
engaged in settlement negotiations with the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ"), on behalf of the
DOE, to settle the claims brought by the Seabrook Station joint owners. It is anticipated the case
will settle in 2009. With respect to the Millstone Unit 3 case, on October 28, 2008, the United
States Court of Federal Claims ("CFC") awarded Dominion Nuclear Connecticut, Inc., majority
owner of Millstone Unit 3, on behalf of MMWEC and the other joint owner, a judgment for
damages incurred through June 30, 2006. On December 24, 2008, the DOJ fied a notice of
appeal of the CFC decision. This matter remains on appeaL.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Assets and Liabilities...continued

Capital Assets

Capital assets are generally defined by MMWEC as assets with an initial, individual cost of more
than $1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Capital assets of MMWEC are
recorded at cost at the date of acquisition. MMWEC capitalizes interest as an element of the cost
of electric plant and nuclear fuel in process. A corresponding capitalized interest amount is
reflected as a reduction of interest expense. The amount of interest capitalized is based on the
cost of debt, including amortization of debt discount and expenses, related to each Project, net
of investment gains and losses, and interest income derived from unexpended Project funds.
Provisions for depreciation are computed using the straight-line method based on estimated
useful lives as follows:

Stony Brook

Building
Building improvements
Equipment

25 years
20 years

20-30 years

Service

Offce equipment and software 3-8 years

Other Generation Facilities

Seabrook Station
Millstone Unit 3

W.F. Wyman NO.4 33 years

60 years
60 years

Construction in progress is stated at cost. Any internal costs that are capitalized are limited to
those costs that can be directly identified with the design, engineering, or construction of a
specific project and do not include any costs related to production, general corporate overhead,
or similar activities.

Nuclear Decommissioning Trust

As required by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and respective state statutes andlor
regulations, MMWEC has funded trust funds maintained by external trustees to provide for the
estimated future decommissioning activities of Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station. The
December 31, 2008 and 2007 Millstone Unit 3 balances of $19.9 and $21.1 million, respectively,
and Seabrook Station balances of $28.9 and $33.9 million, respectively, are stated at market
value and are included as part of the deferred charges and amounts recoverable (payable) under
terms of the PSAs on the Balance Sheet. The Nuclear Decommissioning Trust balance for the
Seabrook Station includes an escrow account into which payments are made by MMWEC as a
funding assurance mechanism. Depending on future circumstances, the funds held in the escrow
account will be placed either in the Decommissioning Trust Fund for Seabrook Station, or will be
returned to MMWEC, per order of the Nuclear Decommissioning Financing Committee of the
State of New Hampshire.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Assets and Liabilities...continued

Amounts Recoverable (Payable) Under Terms of the Power Sales Agreements

Billings to Project Participants are structured to recover costs in accordance with the PSAs,
which generally provide for billing debt service, operating expenses and reserve requirements.
Expenses are reflected in the Statements of Revenues and Expenses in accordance with GAAP.
The timing difference between amounts billed and expensed is charged, or credited, to amounts
recoverable under terms of the PSAs. Such amounts will be recovered through future billings or
an expense will be recognized to offset credit balances. The principal differences include
depreciation, fuel amortization, costs associated with canceled Projects (or assets abandoned
within a Project), asset retirement obligations, cost of refinancing, billing for certain interest,
reserves, net unrealized gains or losses on securities available for sale and other costs.
Individual Projects have a cumulative deferral of costs, which total $24.1 and $43.3 million and
have cumulative billings in excess of costs, which total $161.8 and $121.1 million at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. In accordance with the PSAs, these amounts have
been offset in amounts recoverable (payable) under terms of the PSAs on the Balance Sheet.

The December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounts payable balances of $137.7 and $77.8 million,
respectively, reflect the Statements of Revenues and Expenses net decrease of $60.1 and
$73.0 million for the years then ended.

Member and Participant Advances and Reserves and Other Liabilities

MMWEC maintains numerous operating reserves and advances from its Members and Project
Participants in accordance with the PSAs, Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs) and other power
arrangements. Member and participant advances for 2008 and 2007, which are considered
current liabilities, were $65.7 and $74.5 million, respectively, and are included in member and
participant advances on the Balance Sheet. Other member and participant reserves for 2008
and 2007, which are considered long term, were $56.7 and $76.7 million, respectively, and are
included in other liabilities on the Balance Sheet.

Short and Long-Term Obligations

Long-term debt and other obligations are reported as MMWEC liabilities. Bond premiums and
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using
the effective interest method.

Asset Retirement Obligation

MMWEC has adopted SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations (SFAS 143).
which provides accounting requirements for the recognition and measurement of liabilities
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. MMWEC has identified certain asset
retirement obligations (AROs), which are primarily associated with the decommissioning of
MMWEC's ownership interest in Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station. MMWEC's AROs, other
than those associated with nuclear decommissioning AROs, are not significant. MMWEC
recorded accretion expense of approximately $4.6 and $4.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and is recorded as other operating expenses in the
statement of revenue and expenses. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the ARO was $95.4 and
$90.8 million, respectively.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Assets and Liabilities...continued

Asset Retirement Obligation...continued

AROs are recognized at fair value, as incurred, and capitalized as part of the cost of the related
tangible long-lived assets. In the absence of quoted market prices, MMWEC estimated the fair
value of AROs using present value techniques involving discounted cash flow analysis as
prescribed in SFAS 143. Using such measurement techniques is dependent upon many
subjective factors, including the selection of discount and cost escalation rates, identification of
planned retirement activities and related cost estimates, and assertions of probability regarding
the timing, nature and costs of such activities. Inputs and assumptions are based on the best
information available at the time the estimates are made. However, estimates of future cash
flows are highly uncertain by nature and may vary significantly from actual results.

Revenues

Operating revenues include electric sales for resale provided through MMWEC's bulk power
supply program. Revenues consist of billings under the PSAs, PPAs, and other power
arrangements. MMWEC also records service revenues by providing its Members with power
supply planning and related services, which are billed pursuant to the MMWEC Service
Agreement or the All-Requirements Bulk Power Sales Agreement. Revenues related to financing
and other activities are reflected as non-operating.

Revenues are comprised of the following:

2008 2007
(In Thousands)

Electric sales for resale
Service

$ 400,003
4,614

$ 357,657
4,385

Total revenues $ 404,617 $ 362,042

Taxes

Chapter 775 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1975 specifically exempts the corporation from paying any
taxes upon its income, existence or franchise, and any revenues from the transfer or sale of bonds issued
by the corporation. Chapter 775 exempts real and personal property situated within the commonwealth
from property taxation, however, the Act requires the corporation to pay in lieu of property taxes to any
governmental body authorized to levy local taxes. Therefore, MMWEC does make payments in lieu of
propert taxes for its interest in the Stony Brook Peaking and Intermediate fossil-fuel burning plants
located in Ludlow, Massachusetts.

MMWEC pays property taxes for its nuclear ownership interest in Millstone Unit 3 located in Waterford,
Connecticut and Seabrook Station located in Seabrook New Hampshire. In addition, MMWEC pays
propert taxes for its ownership interest in the Wyman Unit 4 fossil-fuel burning plant, which is located in
Yarmouth, Maine.



Page 20

Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS.. .continued

Restricted Funds

When available for use, it is MMWEC's practice to use restricted funds on hand before using unrestricted
funds.

Reclassification

Restricted special funds as of December 31, 2007 have been reclassified to reflect the proper allocation
of funds between current assets and noncurrent assets. Accordingly, at December 31, 2007 the current
portion of restricted special funds has been increased and the noncurrent portion restricted special funds
has been decreased by $207,891.

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

MMWEC'S cash and investments at year-end 2008 and 2007 were comprised of the following:

2008 2007
Bank & Bank &

Type of Investment or Cash Carrying Investment Carrying Investment Associated
Equivalent Value Value Value Value Risks

(In Thousands)
Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Government Money Market Funds $ 20,534 $ 20,534 $ 24,311 $ 24,311 Credit Risk

Bank Cash Management Accts 18,338 18,338 18 18 Credit Risk, Custodial
Credit Risk

U.S. Treasury Bills 7,140 7,140 Credit Risk, Interest
Rate Risk

U.S. Agency Bonds 14,725 14,725 Credit Risk, Interest
Rate Risk

U.S. Agency Discount Notes 32,090 32,090 88,981 88,981 Credit Risk,

Concentration of Credit
Risk, Interest Rate
Risk

Invested/Bank Cash 19.893 19.592 2.501 2.603 Custodial Credit Risk
Total Cash and Cash

Equivalents 112.720 112.419 115.811 115.913

Other Investments:

U.S. Treasury Bils 24,282 24,283 6,521 6,521 Credit Risk, Interest
Rate Risk

U.S. Treasury Notes 27,904 27,910 44,526 44,524 Credit Risk,

Concentration of
Credit Risk, Interest
Rate Risk

U.S. Agency Bonds 55,096 55,096 88,641 88,641 Credit Risk.

Concentration of
Credit Risk, Interest
Rate Risk

U.S. Agency Discount Notes 5.622 5.622 4.422 4.422 Credit Risk,

Concentration of
Credit Risk, Interest
Rate Risk

Total Other Investments 112.904 112.911 144.110 144.108

Totals $ 225 624 $ 225 330 $ 259 921 $ 260021
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS...continued

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation currently insures up to $250,000 per depositor. At
December 31, 2008 and 2007, investments had a fair value with net unrealized losses of $7.9
million and net unrealized gains of $1.5 million, respectively. The net losses and gains are
excluded from earnings and are reported as a component of amounts recoverable (payable)
under terms of the PSAs on the Balance Sheets.

Investments are stated at fair value as described earlier in the investment policy. Fair values are
based on quoted market prices. No investments are reported at amortized cost. The difference
between the bank and investment value and carrying value is due to outstanding checks andlor
deposits in transit.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, all investments were held in MMWEC's name by custodians
consisting of the Bond Fund Trustee (as defined in the GBR), or MMWEC's depository bank.

Custodial Credit Risk

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a financial institution failure, MMWEC's
deposits may not be returned to MMWEC.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, $19.1 million of the $19.6 million of MMWEC's bank
balances and $2.4 million of the $2.6 million of MMWEC's bank balances, respectively, were
uninsured and uncollateralized and subject to custodial credit risk.

MMWEC's investment policy does not address custodial credit risk.

Investments

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, MMWEC will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.

All investment securities are held in book entry form in MMWEC's name.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations.
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS...continued

Credit Risk...continued

As of December 31,2008 and 2007, MMWEC's investments were rated as follows:

Fitch Ratinqs
Moody's

I nvestor ServiceInvestment Type
Standard &

Poor's

U.S. Treasury Securities
Federal National Mortgage
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Federated Government Obligations Fund
Columbia Treasury Reserves Fund

AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA

AAA
AAA
NIA
N/A
AAA
AAA
N/A

AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA

MMWEC's investment policy addresses credit risk by defining allowable investments and a
maximum allocation to each asset class.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of MMWEC's
investment in a single issuer.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, MMWEC's investment portfolio was concentrated as follows:

Issuer Investment Type
Percentage of Portfolio
2008 2007

Federal National Mortgage Assn.
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Federal Home Loan Mortgage

U.S. Agency Securities
U.S. Agency Securities
U.S. Agency Securities
U.S. Agency Securities

20.16%
0.15%

17.14%
20.16%

11.00%
8.21%

44.96%
5.86%

On September 6, 2008, the Director of the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) appointed
FHFA as the conservator of the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) and the
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) in accordance with the Federal
Housing Finance Regulatory Reform Act. The conservatorship is a statutory process designed to
preserve and conserve assets and property, and put the companies in a sound and solvent
condition.

MMWEC's investment policy minimizes concentration of credit risk in a single issuer by
diversification of investment types using the following maximum limits, which are established for
MMWEC's total portfolio at December 31,2008 as follows:

Repurchase Agreements
Certificates of Deposits
U.S. Treasury Securities
U.S. Agencies
Municipal Securities

10%
10%

100%
65%
20%

Deviation from the approved portfolio limits requires written authorization and approvaL.
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS...continued

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment.

At December 31,2008, MMWEC's investments were as follows:

Maturity In Years
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 5 Over 5

(In Thousands)

U.S. Treasury Securities $ 59,326 $ 31,524 $ 25,448 $ 2,354
U.S. Government Agency
Securities 107,533 65,028 42,046 459

Totals $ 166,859 $ 96,552 $ 67,494 $ 2,813

At December 31,2007, MMWEC's investments were as follows:

Maturity In Years
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 5 Over 5

(In Thousands)
U.S. Treasury Securities $ 51,047 $ 37,713 $ 10,787 $ 2,547
U.S. Government Agency

Securities 182,044 152,562 28,532 950

Total $ 233.091 $ 190.275 $ 39.319 $ 3.497

MMWEC's investment policy specifies that MMWEC shall seek to maximize the return on
investments consistent with requirements for safety, minimization of risk and liquidity. Monies
will not be invested for terms in excess of the projected use of funds nor exceed an average life
of ten years.

During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, investment income consisted of interest
income and unrealized gains/(losses) as follows:

2008 2007

6,571 $ 11,261
544 480

1.820 4.202
8.935 15.943

1,506 2,408
113 123

(9.531 ) (1.056)
(7.912) 1,475

1.023 $ 17.418

Investment interest income:
Restricted funds
Cash and temporary investments
Decommissioning funds

Total interest income

$

Unrealized gains/(Iosses):
Restricted funds
Cash and temporary investments
Decommissioning funds

Total unrealized gains/(losses)

Total investment income $
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3. SPECIAL FUNDS/RESTRICTED ASSETS

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as special funds. Such segregations are
required by bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these
restricted assets are classified as restricted.

Numerous special funds are required by the GBR pursuant to which MMWEC issued its long-
term debt. The special funds are invested in accordance with the provisions of the GBR. Certain
working capital and other funds are not mandated by the GBR; however, they are invested in
accordance with the provisions of the investment policy under the GBR. The composition of
special funds is as follows:

Fund
2008 2007

(In Thousands)

Bond Fund Interest, Principal and Retirement Account to pay
principal and interest on bonds $ 44,497 $ 48,203

Bond Fund Reserve Account set at the maximum annual interest
obligation to make up any deficiencies in the Bond Fund
Interest, Principal and Retirement Account 56,300 59,479

Reserve and Contingency Fund to make up deficiencies in the
Bond Funds and pay for repairs and extraordinary costs

17,747 20,700

41,091
Revenue Fund to receive revenues and disburse them to other
funds 19,238

Working Capital Funds to maintain funds to cover operating
expenses 27,655 25,484

Funds obtained from terminated power purchase contract 20,457 45,704

Other Funds for indemnification or purchase of insurance, funds
contributed for an agreement where MMWEC acts as agent and
long term investments for the Peaking Project and fuel line of
credit

Total Special Funds and Interest Receivable $

27.075

212.969 $

11,491

252.152

Special Funds amounts above include accrued interest receivable of $0.9 and $1.4 million for
2008 and 2007, respectively. For financial reporting purposes, interest receivable has been
disclosed separately on the Balance Sheet.
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4. CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of changes in capital assets for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

Additionsl Deletions/
Balance Reclassi- Reclassi-
1/1/08 fications fications

(In Thousands)

Balance
12/31/08

Capital assets not being depreciated:Land $ 3,049 $ $ $ 3,049

Capital assets being depreciated:
Plant in service 1,318,561 9,660 (261 ) 1,327,960

Less: Accumulated depreciation 745,870 14,565 (275 ) 760,160

Net Plant $ 575,740 $ (4,905) $ 14 $ 570,849

Additionsl Deletionsl
Balance Reclassi- Reclassi- Balance
1/1/07 fications fications 12/31/07

(In Thousands)
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 3,049 $ $ $ 3,049
Capital assets being depreciated:

Plant in service 1,315,570 2,921 70 1,318,561
Less: Accumulated depreciation 729.704 16.275 (109) 745.870

Net Plant $ 588,915 $ (13,354) $ 179 $ 575,740

A summary of changes in nuclear fuel for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

Balance Balance
Year 1/1 Additions Amortization 12/31

(In Thousands)
2008 $ 29,609 $ 3,365 $ (7,330) $ 25,644

2007 $ 15,378 $ 21,081 $ (6,850) $ 29,609
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5. SHORT-TERM DEBT

MMWEC maintains a $10 million revolving line of credit to finance, temporarily, certain power
purchases made by MMWEC for resale to the Members and other municipal systems under
power purchase contracts. Borrowings attributable to a PPA under this line of credit are secured
by the following: a lien on andlor security interest in all proceeds of any loans prior to
disbursement by MMWEC, all amounts payable to MMWEC by the PPA Participants under the
PPA, and earnings from MMWEC's temporary investments of such proceeds and amounts
payable. The pledge of the proceeds for any loan associated with a PPA is limited to the amount
payable by any PPA Participant up to the amount allocated to that Participant. Borrowings
outstanding under the line of credit were $0.1 and $0.8 million as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively. During 2008 and 2007, the maximum outstanding balance under the line of
credit was $5.9 and $3.5 million, respectively. Interest charged on borrowings under the line of
credit is at the bank's prime rate minus one percent (2.25% at December 31, 2008). In addition,
a commitment fee of one quarter of 1 % per annum is charged on the unused portion of the line
based on the average daily principal amount of the borrowing outstanding. This line of credit
expires June 30, 2009, at which time MMWEC expects to be able to renew the line for an
additional year.

MMWEC also maintains a $15 million revolving line of credit for the purpose of financing
purchases of fuel oil and selling such fuel oil from the Stony Brook Fuel Oil Project to the
Intermediate and Peaking Projects. Borrowings under this line of credit are secured by the
following: a lien on andlor security interest in all proceeds of any borrowings prior to
disbursement by MMWEC, all amounts payable by the Intermediate and Peaking Projects to the
Stony Brook Fuel Oil Project for fuel oil, and all earnings from MMWEC's investments of any
such proceeds and amounts payable to the bank. Borrowings outstanding under the line of
credit were $4.8 and $0 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. During 2008
and 2007, the maximum outstanding balance under the line of credit was $4.8 and $7.6 million
respectively. The interest rate for the borrowings under this line of credit is at MMWEC's election
prior to the last day of any interest period of either the L1BOR rate plus 1.25% per annum, or at a
variable rate, which is the prime rate minus 1 % per annum. If no such selection is made, the
variable rate is in effect. This line of credit expires June 30, 2009, at which time MMWEC
expects to be able to renew the line for an additional year.

The following short-term debt activity occurred in 2008 and 2007:

Balance Balance
Year 1/1 Additions Payments 1 2/31

(In Thousands)
2008 $ 760 $ 35,933 $ (31,715) $ 4,978

2007 $ 7,682 $ 21,929 $ (28,851 ) $ 760
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT

General Bond Resolution

MMWEC issued separate issues of Bonds for each of the eight Projects, which are payable
solely from, and secured solely by, the revenues derived from the Project to which such issue
relates, plus available funds pledged under the GBR, with respect to the Bonds of such issues.
The revenues derived from each Project are used solely to provide for the payment of the Bonds
of any Bond issue relating to such Project, and to pay MMWEC's cost of owning and operating
such Project, and are not used to provide for the payment of the Bonds of any Bond issue
relating to any other Project. Pursuant to all of the Project PSAs, each Project Participant is
obligated to pay its share of the actual costs relating to the Project's generating unit(s), and its
share of all principal, premium and interest associated with the Bonds for a Project in which the
Project Participant has a PSA, and for which the Project Participant is obligated to set rates at
levels sufficient to pay such costs. These obligations are not contingent upon the operational
status of the Project's unit(s).

Power Supply System Revenue Bonds

MMWEC's issuance of debt, other than obligations with a maturity of less than one year, requires
authorization by the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities.

On July 1, 2008 the Stony Brook Intermediate Project Series A bonds and the W.F. Wyman Unit
No.4 Project Series A bonds were paid in fulL.

Bonds payable consist of serial and variable-rate bonds dated November 2, 2001 and are
comprised of the following issues:

Issue

Net
Interest December 31,

Cost 2008 2007
(In Thousands)

3.5% $ - $ 6,225

3.5% 575
4.0% 39,340 47,835

4.2% 47,930 47,930

4.3% 83,210 96,625

4.2% 25,535 29,710
4.2% 202,635 230,035

4.9% 820 11,920

Stony Brook Intermediate Project, Series A
(Original Issue $66,270)
W.F. Wyman Unit NO.4 Project, Series A (Original

Issue $3,255)
Nuclear Mix No.1, Series A (Original Issue $90,015)
Nuclear Project No.3, Series A (Original Issue

$47,930)
Nuclear Project No.4, Series A (Original Issue

$112,695)
Nuclear Project No.5, Series A (Original Issue

$42,170)
Project No.6, Series A (Original Issue $347,535)
Nuclear Project No.3, Series B (Original Issue

$65,290)
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT...continued

General Bond Resolution...continued

Power Supply System Revenue Bonds...continued

The estimated fair values of MMWEC's debt are as followings:

December 31,
Issue 2008 2007

(In Thousands)

Stony Brook Intermediate Project, Series A $ $ 6,284
W. F. Wyman Unit NO.4 Project, Series A 578
Nuclear Mix No.1, Series A 40,579 49,927
Nuclear Project No.3, Series A 49,432 50,353
Nuclear Project No.4, Series A 87,228 101,389
Nuclear Project No.5, Series A 26,823 31,173
Project No.6, Series A 208,744 242,074
Nuclear Project No.3, Series B 827 11,976
Nuclear Mix No.1, Series One 11,350 11,350
Nuclear Project No.3, Series One 62,975 62,975
Nuclear Project No.4, Series One 35,325 35,325
Nuclear Project No.5, Series One 9,025 9,025
Project No.6, Series One 52,100 52,100

Total Long-Term Debt at Fair Value $ 584,408 $ 664,529

Issue

Nuclear Mix No.1, Series One (Original Issue
$11,350)

Nuclear Project No.3, Series One (Original Issue
$62,975)

Nuclear Project No.4, Series One (Original Issue
$35,325)

Nuclear Project No.5, Series One (Original Issue
$9,025)

Project No.6, Series One (Original Issue $52,100)
Bonds payable
Unamortized premium
Less: Current maturities
Current unamortized premium
(Total Long-Term Debt

Net
Interest December 31,

Cost 2008 2007
(In Thousands)

Variable 11,350 11,350

Variable 62,975 62,975

Variable 35,325 35,325

Variable 9,025 9,025
Variable 52,100 52,100

570,245 641,630
9,230 12,723

(68,000) (71,385)
(426) (421)

$ 511,049 $ 582,547
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT...continued

General Bond Resolution...continued

Power Supply System Revenue Bonds...continued

The Series A Bonds maturing on and prior to July 1, 2011 and the Series B Bonds are not
subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of MMWEC. The Series A Bonds maturing
on and after July 1, 2012 are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of MMWEC at
101 % of the principal amount from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012 and at 100% from
January 1, 2013 and thereafter. The Series One Bonds of each issue are subject to redemption
at the option of MMWEC, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal
amount.

The following is a summary of total debt service requirements for bonds outstanding at
December 31,2008:

Principal Interest Total

(In Thousands)

2009 $ 68,000 $ 28,341 $ 96,341
2010 57,990 24,794 82,784
2011 59,400 21,894 81 ,294
2012 62,190 18,924 81,114
2013 65,400 15,659 81,059

2014-2018 248,815 31,077 279,892
2019 8,450 380 8,830

Totals $ 570,245 $ 141,069 $ 711,314

Future interest requirements on variable rate debt were calculated at 4.5%.

The interest rates on the Series One variable rate Bonds may be converted, at the option of
MMWEC, to a daily, weekly, flexible, term or fixed mode. The realized interest rate on the Series
One variable rate Bonds during 2008 and 2007 was 2.8% and 3.5%, respectively.

Financial and credit market disruption resulted in failed auctions for MMWEC Series One
variable rate debt. MMWEC Series One variable rate bonds have subsequently priced at the
Maximum Auction Rate. The Maximum Auction Rate means, as of any Auction Date, the product
of the Index multiplied by the Auction Mode Multiple. The index on any Auction Date with respect
to the Series One Bonds of a particular Issue in any Auction Period of 35 days or less will be the
Seven-Day "AA" Composite Commercial Paper Rate on such date. The Auction Mode Multiple,
means, as of any Auction Date and with respect to the Series One Bonds of a particular Issue,
the Percentage of Index determined based on the prevailing Rating of the Series One Bonds.
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT...continued

General Bond Resolution...continued

Power Supply System Revenue Bonds...continued

At December 31,2008, the following are the detail terms of all variable rate debt:

Project 2008 Averaqe
Auction Rate

Auction Mode

Nuclear Mix No.1, Series One
Nuclear Project No.3, Series One
Nuclear Project No.4, Series One
Nuclear Project No.5, Series One
Project No.6, Series One

2.81%
2.88%
2.77%
2.87%
2.77%

Weekly
Weekly

Daily
Weekly

Daily

The following summarizes changes in long-term debt for 2008 and 2007:

Balance
Year 1/1 Additions Payments

(In Thousands)
2008 $ 641,630 $ $ (71,385)

2007 $ 714,635 $ $ (73,005)

Balance
12/31

$ 570,245

$ 641,630

Interest paid for 2008 and 2007 was $32,662 and $34,843, respectively. Total revenues for the
same periods were $404,617 and $362,042, respectively.

7. BENEFIT PLANS

The Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company Pension Plans (Plans) are two
single-employer, defined benefit pension plans administered by MMWEC. One plan covers union
employees (union plan) and the other plan covers non-union employees (administration plan).
The plans cover all full-time active administration employees hired before December 1, 2006,
and all full-time active union employees hired before January 1, 2008 and provide a defined
benefit to employees based on years of service and average earnings. Administrative or union
employees hired after these dates qualify for a Defined Contribution plan as described below.
Benefit provisions of the plans are determined and authorized by the MMWEC Board of
Directors. Certain other financial information concerning the plans, in addition to the information
contained here, is provided annually to plan participants.

All contributions to the plans are authorized by the Board of Directors and made by MMWEC.
For the years 2008, 2007 and 2006, MMWEC has made additional contributions in excess of the
required contributions with the goal of establishing a funding ratio of approximately 100%.
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7. BENEFIT PLANS...continued

The annual pension cost and net pension obligation for both plans for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Administration Plan Union Plan
2008 2007 2008 2007

(In Thousands)

Annual required contribution $ 769 $ 832 $ 211 $ 227
Interest on net pension obligation (161 ) (99) (56) (27)
Adjustment to annual required

contribution 181 111 63 31

Annual pension cost 789 844 218 231
Contributions made (4,205) (1,672) (310) (613)
Increase (decrease) in net pension
obligation (asset) (3,416) (828) (92) (382)

Net pension obligation (asset)
beginning of year (2,141) (1,313) (750) (368)

Net Pension Obligation (Asset) End of
Year $ (5,557) $ (2,141) $ (842) $ (750)

Three-year trend information for MMWEC's pension cost and contributions is as follows:

Annual Percentage
Pension Employer of APC Net Pension

Cost (APC) Contribution Contributed Asset
(In Thousands)

Administration Plan

2006 $ 899 $ 1,338 150.1 % $ 1,313
2007 844 1,672 201.0% 2,141
2008 789 4,205 547.1% 5,557

Union Plan

2006 $ 274 $ 562 205.0% $ 368
2007 231 613 270.0% 750
2008 218 310 146.9% 842
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7. BENEFIT PLANS...continued

A schedule of funding progress for the Plans is as follows:

Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage

Actuarial Value of Liability AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Asset (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) ( b-a ) ( alb ) (c) r(b-a )/cl

(In Thousands)
Administration Plan

1/1/2006 $ 9,850 $ 15,377 $ 5,527 64.1% $ 4,280 129.1 %
1/1/2007 11,343 16,117 4,774 70.4% 4,407 108.3%
1/1/2008 13,755 17,213 3,458 79.9% 4,825 71.1%

Union Plan

1/1/2006 2,875 4,325 1 ,450 66.5% 1 ,448 100.1 %
1/1/2007 2,843 3,893 1,050 73.0% 1,345 78.1%
1/1/2008 3,569 3,981 412 89.7% 1,604 25.7%

The annual required contribution for the current year was determined as part of the January 1,
2008 actuarial valuation using the entry age normal with frozen initial liability cost method. The
actuarial assumptions included a 7.5% investment rate of return and a 4.0% projected salary
increase. The amortization method for both plans used the level dollar open method with an
amortization period of 30 years. The administration and union plans used the entry age normal
with frozen initial liability cost method for all years shown.

In January 2008, in an effort to streamline the organization, MMWEC offered all qualified
employees a voluntary separation plan and a voluntary early retirement plan. A total of
18 employees participated in the plans. Employees that elected to participate were required to
stay 90 days after their election date to allow time for MMWEC to transition their duties to other
employees. The voluntary separation and early retirement plans were completed as of July 25,
2008.

All MMWEC employees are eligible to make a voluntary contribution in accordance with
prescribed annual dollar limits to a deferred compensation plan sponsored by the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts. The deferred compensation plan is maintained pursuant to Section 457(b) of
the Internal Revenue Code and the General Laws of Massachusetts.

In 2007, MMWEC established a defined contribution (DC) pension plan in compliance with
Section 401 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code for non-union employees hired after December 1,
2006 and for union employees hired after January 1, 2008. Thereafter, all new employees are no
longer eligible to participate in the MMWEC Defined Benefit plans. Under the DC plan, MMWEC
contributes 6% of an employee's base salary and matches 50% of employee contributions to the
deferred compensation plan up to a maximum employee contribution of 6%. For the year ended
December 31, 2008, MMWEC contributed $10,100 and the employees contributed $0.
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7. BENEFIT PLANS...continued

MMWEC contributes to an employee savings plan administered by a mutual insurance company.
All eligible full-time employees meeting the service and eligibility requirements participate in this
plan. Under the provisions of the plan, MMWEC's contributions are vested immediately. For the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, MMWEC contributed $114,000 and $128,000,
respectively, and the employees contributed $176,000 and $197,000, respectively. All
employees eligible or participating in the DC pension plan established in 2007 are not eligible to
participate in the employee savings plan.

8. PROJECT JOINT OWNERSHIP AGREEMENTS

MMWEC's power supply capacity includes ownership interests in the Stony Brook Peaking and
Intermediate Units, both of which MMWEC operates. MMWEC is a nonoperating joint owner in
the W.F. Wyman Unit No.4, Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station. Electric plant in service also
includes MMWEC's service operations, which totaled $2.5 million in both 2008 and 2007. The
following is a summary of the Projects included in electric plant in service and construction work
in progress, as well as MMWEC's share of capability in megawatts (MW).

Projects

Peaking Project
Intermediate Project
Wyman Project
Nuclear Project NO.3
Nuclear Mix NO.1
Nuclear Mix NO.1
Nuclear Project NO.4
Nuclear Project NO.5
Project NO.6

Totals

Amount as of December 31,
2008 2007

(In Thousands)

57,910 $
167,988

8,089
140,569
56,794

9,552
284,557

77,347
536,211

Facility and MMWEC
Share of Capability in MW

Stony Brook 172.7
Stony Brook 321.3
W.F. Wyman NO.4 22.4
Millstone Unit 3 39.5
Millstone Unit 3 19.8
Seabrook Station 2.0
Seabrook Station 54.0
Seabrook Station 13.7
Seabrook Station 74.7

$ 57,897
167,922

7,678
138,740
55,877

9,456
282,008

76,702
532,681

$ 1,339,017 $ 1,328,961

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the fall refueling outage, Dominion Nuclear Connecticut, Inc., the lead owner of Millstone
Unit 3, successfully uprated Millstone Unit 3 output by approximately 7%. MMWEC's share of
the total power uprate was approximately 4MW.

FPL Energy Seabrook, LLC, the lead owner of Seabrook Station, intends to seek approval from
the NRC to extend Seabrook Station's operating license for an additional 20 years to 2050.

During 2007 and 2008, MMWEC formed four cooperatives under Massachusetts General Laws
with municipal utility companies to conduct business for the mutual benefit of its members.
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS...continued

During 2008, MMWEC and fourteen other municipal utilities formed the Berkshire Wind Power
Cooperative Corporation for the purpose of financing, owning, constructing and operating wind
turbines and ancillary equipment located in Hancock and Lanesborough, Massachusetts. In
November of 2008, MMWEC and the West Boylston Municipal Light Plant formed the
Massachusetts Municipal Light Department Solar Energy Cooperative Corporation for the
purpose of financing, owning, constructing and operating a solar energy production facility in
West Boylston, Massachusetts. There was no activity related to this cooperative in 2008.

During 2007, the Massachusetts Municipal Light Department Wind Energy Cooperative
Corporation was formed by MMWEC and the Princeton Municipal Light Department for the
purpose of financing, owning, constructing and operating wind generation facilities located in the
Town of Princeton. The Westfield Gas & Electric Cooperative was formed by MMWEC and the
Westfield Gas & Electric Light Department (WG&E) for the purpose of financing, constructing and
operating a natural gas pipeline to provide natural gas transportation service to WG&E.

MMWEC provides accounting, financial, power supply and administrative services to all four of
these cooperatives. As such, although MMWEC is a member of each cooperative and has one
representative on the Board of each cooperative, MMWEC has no rights to the entities' assets
nor has management oversight of the four cooperatives. Thus, the entities are not required to be
reported as component units under rules established by Governmental Accounting Standard No.
14 - "The Financial Reporting Entity." MMWEC billed a total of $338,000 and $85,000 for
MMWEC services and outside professional services during 2008 and 2007, respectively, for all
cooperatives.

10. CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS

Lonq- Term Contracts - Power Purchases

MMWEC entered into agreements for participation in the transmission interconnection between
New England utilities and the Hydro-Quebec electric system near Sherbrooke, Quebec (Phase I),
which began commercial operation in October 1986. The New England portion of the
interconnection was constructed at a total cost of approximately $140 million, of which 3.65% or
$5 million is MMWEC's share to support Phase i. MMWEC also entered into similar agreements
for participation in the interconnection between New England utilities and the Hydro-Quebec
electric system. This agreement is for the expansion of the Hydro-Quebec interconnection

(Phase II), which went into commercial operation in November 1990. MMWEC's Phase Ii equity
investment is approximately 0.6% or $3.3 million. MMWEC has corresponding agreements with
certain of its Members and another utility to recover MMWEC's share of the costs associated
with the Phase II interconnection.

On a limited basis, MMWEC may enter into agreements providing financial assurance to third
parties. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, outstanding guarantees consisted of $0.2 million and
$0.3 million, respectively, related to its equity interest in the Hydro-Quebec transmission
companies. Management believes that the likelihood MMWEC would be required to perform or
otherwise incur any significant losses associated with this guarantee is remote.
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10. CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS.. .continued

Lonq-Term Contracts - Power Purchases...continued

In 1990, MMWEC entered into a PPA, for a long-term purchase of 21.2 MW, or 7.86% of the
output of an independent power producer (MASSPOWER). In 2005, MMWEC filed a complaint
against MASSPOWER alleging that MASS POWER breached the PPA by ceasing to operate as a
dispatchablelbaseload unit. In February 2007, the Superior Court, after trial, entered judgment
for MASSPOWER. MMWEC appealed that judgment to the Massachusetts Appeals Court,
which, in 2008 affrmed the Superior Court's judgment in favor of MASSPOWER.

In May 2007, MMWEC exercised its "must run" right under the PPA, which permits MMWEC to
request MASSPOWER to run on a continuous basis. MASSPOWER refused. MMWEC
terminated the PPA for material breach thereof. In July 2007, MASSPOWER sued MMWEC
alleging breach of the PPA and sought damages equal to the cost associated with the remainder
of the PPA term and treble damages, in total, of approximately $52 million.

After hearing cross-motions for summary judgment, on February 13, 2008, the court entered
judgment allowing MMWEC's motion for summary judgment and denying MASSPOWER'S
motion. On the same day, MASSPOWER appealed the judgment. In November 2008, the
Appeals Court held that the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment was improper as a
genuine issue of material fact may exist. Accordingly, the Appeals Court remanded to the
Superior Court for trial MASS POWER's claim that MMWEC breached the PPA by terminating it
improperly. The Appeals Court also remanded for trial MASS POWER's claims that MMWEC
violated the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and Massachusetts General Laws
Chapter 93A, relative to unfair and deceptive trade practices. It is anticipated that a trial will
take place in 2009.

If MASSPOWER is successful at trial, the damages would equal MMWEC's costs remaining on
the PPA, expenses MMWEC would have incurred in any event. It is not probable that, after trial,
the Superior Court would allow MASSPOWER's claim of treble damages. Consequently,
MMWEC has not recorded a contingent liability.

Claims and Judqments

MMWEC is involved in various legal actions. Management believes that the ultimate resolution
of litigation in which MMWEC is currently involved will not have a material, adverse effect on the
financial position of MMWEC.

11. RISK MANAGEMENT

MMWEC is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. These
risks are covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal deductibles.
There were no settled claims in any of the past three years. There has been no material
decrease in insurance coverage of MMWEC in the past year.
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11. RISK MANAGEMENT.. .continued

Nuclear Insurance

The Price-Anderson Act (the Act), a federal statute, mandates an industry-wide program of
liability insurance for nuclear facilities. The $300 million primary layer of insurance for the liability
has been purchased in the commercial insurance market. As adjusted for inflation in 2008,
secondary coverage is to be provided through an assessment on each of the currently licensed
nuclear units in the United States of approximately $111.9 million plus an additional $5.6 million
for defense costs per incident, not to exceed $17.5 million per incident in any year. The
assessment is to be adjusted for inflation every five years. Under the Act, MMWEC's ownership
interests in Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station could result in a maximum assessment of
approximately $5.6 and $13.6 million, respectively, limited to payments of $0.8 and $2.0 million
per incident per year, respectively. Originally enacted in 1957, the Act has been renewed
several times and in July 2005, Congress extended the Act until the end of 2025, as part of the
Energy Policy Act of 2005.

Insurance has been purchased from Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL) to cover the cost
of repair, replacement, decontamination or premature decommissioning of utility property
resulting from insured occurrences at Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station. The NEIL
insurance is subject to retroactive assessments if losses exceed the accumulated funds available
to the insurer. MMWEC is potentially subject to a $1.1 and $2.6 million assessment for its
participation in Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station, respectively, for excess property damage,
decontamination and premature decommissioning.

12. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK I SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS

Credit risk represents the risk of loss that would occur if customers do not meet their financial
obligations to MMWEC. Concentration of credit risk occurs when significant customers possess
similar characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be affected
by the same events.

MMWEC has one Member who is considered a significant customer, which accounted for
approximately $50.9 million (13%) of MMWEC revenues in 2008 and $40.8 million (11 %) in 2007.

13. ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER ISSUES

MMWEC is not currently covered under gradual pollution liability insurance related to MMWEC's
Stony Brook Intermediate and Peaking Unit power plants. However, reserves have been
established to mitigate potential liability should such liability arise. Nothing has come to
management's attention concerning any material pollution liability claims made during 2008 and
2007 or outstanding as of December 31,2008 and 2007.

As of January 1, 2009, the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection enacted a
new regulation, the Massachusetts Budget Trading Program (310 CMR 7.70) in accordance with
the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI). RGGI is a 10-state CO2 Budget Trading
Program that applies to all fossil-fuel-fired units that serve an electric generator with a nameplate
capacity of 25 megawatts or greater. All such units must provide one CO2 allowance for each ton
of CO2 emitted during the compliance period. Allowances can be obtained by participating in
regional quarterly auctions or through purchases from a broker or other third party.



Page 37

Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31,2008 and 2007

13. ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER ISSUES...continued

MMWEC has established a trust fund to enhance its Directors' and Offcers' liability coverage.
The purpose of the trust fund is to make available funds for the purchase of Directors' and
Officers' liability insurance andlor indemnification of the Directors or Officers.

MMWEC has a guaranty with iSO New England, Inc. (ISO-NE) with respect to certain MMWEC
Members' financial assurance obligations to ISO-NE. These Members do not have credit ratings
and MMWEC provides financial assurances for their transactions in ISO-NE. MMWEC's financial
assurance is backed by the NEPEX Account Agreement between MMWEC and each of these
Members. Pursuant to the NEPEX Account Agreement, each Member has an absolute and
unconditional obligation to pay MMWEC for its respective ISO-NE transactions.

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2009, the Governor of Massachusetts signed into law St. 2008, c. 535, an act which
significantly broadens MMWEC's authority, commensurate with the significant changes in energy
and energy markets since 1975, the year MMWEC was created as a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth. Among several newly-granted rights, the act broadens the types of facilities and
products MMWEC may own, finance, sell, buy, and in which it may participate from "electric
facilities" to "energy" facilities and "energy" products, which include electric, natural gas, and
related products. The act allows MMWEC to utilize various financial instruments and products
which financial instruments and products did not exist in 1975. The act also broadens the types
of contractual relationships MMWEC may enter into with its Members, such as allowing MMWEC
to create pooled financing for Members' needs and to loan money to Members for such needs,
including distribution facilities, structures and equipment. The act does not limit any of
MMWEC's pre-existing authority. It allows an expansion of MMWEC's powers.
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(In Thousands)

HYDRO
NUCLEAR NUCLEAR NUCLEAR NUCLEAR PROJECT QUEBEC

SERVICE MIX1 PROJ. 3 PROJ. 4 PROJ. 5 PROJ. 6 PEAKING INTERMEDIATE WYMAN PHASE II TOTAL
ASSETS

-

Current assets:

Cash and temporary investments $ 4,142 $ $ $ $ - $ $ 3,599 $ 5,029 $ 821 $ $ 13,591
Accounts receivable 10,029 1,482 2,311 3,207 920 5,662 832 7,590 375 37 32,445
Unbiled revenues 15,946 15,946
Inventories 4,860 77 2,000 506 2,771 4,112 11,791 795 26,912
Advances to (from) projects 1,711 (60) (67) (78) (35) (107) (162) (1,170) (32)
Prepaid expenses 268 75 139 192 49 266 15 47 (138) 913
Current portion of restricted special funds 25,391 11,947 10.881 17,687 3,711 56,802 4,020 10,241 1,007 39 141,726

Total current assets 62,347 13,521 13,264 23,008 5,151 65,394 12,416 33,528 2,828 76 231,533

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted assets:

Restricted special funds 34,064 3,500 12,674 7,590 4,224 7,999 7 249 70,307
i nterest receivable 259 11 28 78 24 193 45 273 25 936

Deferred charges:

Unamortized debt discount and expenses 223 643 708 207 1,619 3,400
Nuclear decommissioning trst 7,058 13,259 10,814 2,737 14,977 48,845
Other 9,967 658 1,116 2,606 658 3,610 71 1,146 3 154 19,989

Total noncurrent assets 44,290 11,450 27,720 21,796 7,850 28,398 116 1,426 277 154 143,477

Capital assets:

In service 2,498 64,473 136,976 282,661 76,868 533,585 57,908 167,951 8,089 1,331,009
Accumulated depreciation (2,237) (34,707) (76,310) (134,390) (36,778) (259,877) (55,968) (153,086) (6,807) (760,160)
Construction Work in progress 1,873 3,592 1,896 480 2,625 2 37 10,505
Nuclear fuel - net of amortization 1,571 2,538 8,156 2,066 11,313 25,644

Total capital assets 261 33,210 66,796 158,323 42,636 287,646 1,942 14,902 1,282 606,998

Total assets $ 106,898 $ 58,181 $ 107,780 $ 203,127 $ 55,637 $ 381,438 $ 14.474 $ 49,856 $ 4,387 $ 230 $ 982,008

LIABILITIES

Current liabilties:

Accounts payable $ 9,268 $ 266 $ 444 $ 1,231 $ 312 $ 1,705 $ 415 $ 420 $ 654 $ 30 $ 14,745

Member and participant advances 29,761 2,185 3,498 4,316 1,580 9,106 2,948 10,970 1,167 200 65,731

Short-term debt 4,978 4,978

Accrued expenses 9,850 1,096 1,331 4,387 1,217 8,471 57 811 50 27,270

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:

Current maturities of long-term debt 8,962 11,732 14,185 4,418 29,129 68,426

Total current liabilities 53,857 12,509 17,005 24,119 7,527 48,411 3,420 12,201 1,871 230 181,150

Noncurrent liabilties:
Long-term debt, net of premiums 42,501 100,900 106,298 30,741 230,609 511,049

Asset retirement obligation 6,462 10,661 29,684 7,514 41,111 95,432

Amounts payable (recoverable) under terms of

the power sales agreements 7,350 (3,291) (20.786) 43,025 9,855 61,308 10,887 26,861 2,516 137,725

Other liabilties 45,691 167 10,794 56,652

Total noncurrent liabilties 53,041 45,672 90,775 179,007 48,110 333,028 11,054 37,655 2,516 800,858

Total liabilties $ 106,898 $ 58,181 $ 107,780 $ 203,126 $ 55,637 $ 381,439 $ 14,474 $ 49,856 $ 4,387 $ 230 $ 982,008
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(In Thousands)

SERVICE

NUCLEAR

MIX1

NUCLEAR

PROJ. 3

NUCLEAR

PROJ. 4
NUCLEAR

PROJ.5
PROJECT
PROJ.6 PEAKING INTERMEDIATE WYMAN

HYDRO

QUEBEC
PHASE II TOTAL

Operating revenues:
Revenues $ 210,423 $ 17,265 $ 26,782 $ 36,248 $ 10,277 $ 63,512 $ 4,493 $ 33,371 $ 1,879 $ 367 $ 404,617

Operating expenses:

Fuel used in electric generation 709 1,227 2,587 656 3,591 1,123 17,911 643 28,447
Purchased power 207,360 381 207,741
Other operating 1,121 3,296 5,624 9,642 2,518 13,379 2,404 7,066 598 45,648
Maintenance 57 1,293 2,379 2,680 678 3,711 755 7,390 18,943
Depreciation 47 784 1,632 3,546 960 6,569 96 592 316 14,542
Taxes other than income 211 340 1,076 272 1,490 364 1,003 85 4.841

Total operating expenses 208,585 6,293 11,202 19,531 5,084 28,740 4,742 33,962 1,642 381 320,162

Operating income 1,838 10,972 15,580 16,717 5,193 34,772 (249) (591) 237 (14) 84,455

Non-operating revenues (expenses):

Interest income 2,949 (181) (391) (1,336) (288) (708) 256 645 63 14 1,023

Interest expense on long-tenn debt (88) (2,566) (4,776) (5,708) (1,704) (12,969) (3) (163) (11) (27,988)
Amortization of premium on long-tenn debt 387 416 703 213 1,737 36 1 3,493
Amortization of debt discount and expenses (96) (173) (196) (58) (419) (7) (1) (950)
Interest charged to projects during construction 11 32 22 6 38 109

(Increase) decrease in amounts payable under
tenns of the power sales agreements (4,699) (8,527) (10,688) (10,202) (3,362) (22,451 ) (4) 80 (289) (60,142)

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (1,838) (10,972) (15,580) (16,717) (5,193) (34,772) 249 591 (237) 14 (84,455)

Net revenues and expenses $ - $ $ - $ - $ $ - $ $ - $ - $ - $
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Cash flows from operating activities:

Received from sales to members and participants

Paid to suppliers for goods and services

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activates

Cash flows from investing activities:
Net maturities and purchases of investments

Interest received
Construction expenditures and purchases of nuclear fuel

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of short-term debt
Principal payments on long-term debt

Principal payments on short-term debt
Decommissioning trust payments

Interest payments on long.term debt
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconcilation of operating Income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used In) operating activities:

Operating income (loss)
Noncash items included in operating income:

Depreciation
Amortization of nuclear fuel and accretion of ARO
Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivabie

Unbiled revenues
Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable

Member and participant advances

Accrued expenses

Deferred credits and other liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Reconcilation of cash ad cash equivalents to the balance sheet:
Cash and temporary investments

Restricted special funds - noncurrenl
Tolal cash and investments

Less - long-term investments

Total cash and cash equivalents

SERVICE
NUCLEAR

MIX 1

HYDRO

QUEBEC
PHASE II ~NUCLEAR

PROJ. 3

NUCLEAR

PROJ. 4

NUCLEAR
PROJ,5

PROJECT
PROJ. 6 PEAKING INTERMEDIATE WYMAN

$ 192,540 $ 16,563 $ 25.726 $ 34,958 $ 10,106 $ 62,260 $ 4,700 $ 30,041 $ 2,264 $ 368 $ 379.526
(221.228) (4,755) (8.074) (15.718) (4,050) (21,767) (3,736) (29,574) (1,092) (351) (310.345)
(28.688) 11,808 17.652 19.240 6,056 40,493 964 467 1,172 17 69,181

22.123 1,920 1.899 2.286 (492) 3,498 1,039 1,503 (168) 33,608
3,268 546 861 944 274 2,422 214 575 53 14 9,171
53 (1,856) (3,494) (2.974) (754) (4,126) (29) (120) (411) (13,711)

25,444 610 (734) 256 (972) 1,794 1,224 1,958 (526) 14 29,Q8

35,933 35,933
(8.495) (11,100) (13,415) (4.175) (27,400) (6.225) (575) (71,385)

(31,715) (31,715)
(217) (408) (335) (85) (466) (1.511)

(88) (3.074) (5,359) (6,639) (1,968) (15.170) 1 (342) (23) (32.662)
4,130 (11,786) (16,867) (20,389) (6.228) (43,036) 1 (6.567) (598) (101,340)

886 632 51 (893) (1,144) (749) 2.189 (4.142) 48 31 (3.091)

39,570 6,845 10,446 13,036 4.690 31,921 943 7.579 773 8 115.811

$ 40,456 $ 7,477 $ 10,497 $ 12,143 $ 3.546 $ 31,172 $ 3,132 $ 3.437 $ 821 $ 39 $ 112.720

$ 1,838 $ 10,972 15,580 $ 16,717 $ 5.193 $ 34,772 $ (249) $ (591) $ 237 $ (14) $ 84,455

47 784 1.632 3,546 960 6,569 96 592 316 14.542
870 1,471 3,629 920 5,036 11.926

2,884 (11) (47) (191) (44) (227) 346 (3,559) (120) (1) (970)
4,727 4.727

(4,860) (6) (108) (27) (150) 601 2,691 (154) (2,013)
2 7 15 (70) (18) (97) 5 (6) 147 (15)

3,211 (331) (414) (3,208) (812) (4,443) 382 (96) 231 16 (5,464)
(6.531) (668) (992) (1.062) (109) (970) (168) 1.220 517 2 (8,761)
(9,919) 191 407 (13) (7) 3 (49) 216 (2) 14 (9,159)(20.087) (20.087)

$ (28,688) $ 19,240 $ 40,493 $ 17 $ 69,1811,172 $6,056 $ 964 $ 467 $11,808 $ 17.652 $

$ 4.142 $ $ $ $ $ $ 3.599 $ 5.029 $ 821 $ $ 13.591
59,455 15,447 23,555 25,277 7,935 64,801 4.020 10.248 1.256 39 212.033
63,597 15,447 23,555 25,277 7.935 64,801 7.619 15.277 2,077 39 225.624
(23,141) (7,970) (13,058) (13.134) (4.3891 (33.629) (4,487) (11.840) (1,256) (112.904)

$ 12.143 $ 821 $ 39 $ 112,7203.546 $ 31.172 $ 3,132 $ 3,437 $40,456 $ 7,477 $ 10,497 $
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Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company
Debt Service Coverage
Years Ended December 31 , 2008 and 2007

NET REVENUE AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE

In accordance with the provisions of MMWEC's GBR, MMWEC covenants that it shall fix, revise
and collect rates, tolls, rents and other fees and charges sufficient to produce revenues to pay all
operating and maintenance expenses, principal of the Bonds and premium and interest on the
Bonds. In addition, MMWEC covenants that it will pay all other obligations against its revenues
for each Project. Revenues for each Project, which include applicable interest earnings from
investments, are required to equal 1.10 times the annual debt service for each contract year
ending June 30, after deduction of certain operating and maintenance expenses and exclusive of
depreciation. As such, the balances included in the table below do not reflect December 31

balances. For the contract years ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, MMWEC met the GBR debt
service coverage requirements for all of MMWEC's Projects.

Contract Year Ended June 30,
2008 2007

Revenues $ 155,367 $ 178,691
Other bilings 135 473
Reserve and contingency fund bilings 9,861 10.689
Total 165,363 189,853
Less - operating and maintenance expenses (56,880) 72,276

Available revenues net of expenses $ 108.483 $ 117.577

Debt service requirement $ 98.639 $ 106,888

Coverage (110% required) 110% 110%




